FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 9/9/2021 3:43 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/10/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Court of Appeals Case No. 53972-1-II

Case No. <u>10019</u>5-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MATTHEW MENZER AS LITIGATION GUARDIAN AD LITEM OF KJM, A MINOR,

Petitioner,

v.

CATHOLIC HEALTH INITIATIVES, A FOREIGN CORPORATION; FRANCISCAN HEALTH SYSTEM, A WASHINGTON CORPORATION; AND SAINT JOSEPH MEDICAL CENTER,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ian S. Birk, WSBA #31431 Gabriel E. Verdugo, WSBA #44154 Felicia J. Craick, WSBA #54505 KELLER ROHRBACK L.L.P. 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 3200 Seattle, WA 98101-3052

Telephone: (206) 623-1900

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does Washington's medical negligence statute, chapter 7.70 RCW, enacted to limit claims against "health care providers," prohibit negligence claims against *non*-"health care providers" involved in health care delivery?
- 2. Does Washington law support a tort duty of care by the corporate operator of health care system, which has actual knowledge of lifesaving newborn screening, but (a) fails

to disseminate that information to providers, (b) violates the standard of care, where (c) the result is that a newborn is not offered the critical test and develops catastrophic, lifelong brain damage?

3. Does the doctrine of ostensible agency depend on the totality of the information available to the patient throughout treatment?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division II's opinion accurately states much of the record, with several important exceptions.

First, the Court misinterpreted KJM's claim as insisting that CHI had to "adopt specific procedures." App. at 1. KJM's experts testified that supplemental newborn screening (SNS) should have been *offered*, and the standard of care required CHI to *disseminate* lifesaving information it actually knew. CP 616. The experts never testified that CHI had to mandate "specific procedures," App. at 1, but rather share lifesaving information when it knew this information was not known throughout its

system. CP 680. As a result, "CHI breached its duty to FHS/[St. Joseph] and their newborn patients by not providing this vitally important health related service." *Id*.¹

Second, the Court downplayed CHI's knowledge of SNS. The Court implied CHI's knowledge was limited to the experience of its medical director who came from another system that *did* disseminate knowledge of SNS. But CHI internally recognized that SNS was a "standard practice." CP 375.² The Court noted hospitals "in Colorado and Pennsylvania" were already employing SNS, but omitted these were CHI hospitals already using SNS. CP 462-63.

Third, the Court adopted CHI's characterization that it "did not have any involvement in the clinical decision-making

-

¹ SNS uses one blood sample already required to be taken to test for a panel of disorders based on a Duke University process to test for multiple disorders with one sample. CP 612.

² In May 2005, CHI's genetics advisory committee met to address "the most critical issues" regarding genetic testing, and recommended provider education on "genetic issues and technology available." CP 375-76.

or treatment of patients" at its Washington hospital. App. at 3 (quoting CP 102). But it is undisputed CHI—as "one of the nation's largest nonprofit health systems," App. at 3 (quoting CP 278)—*did* disseminate standard-of-care "practice bundles" for providers. CHI developed "system-wide improvement of safety, quality and efficiency through the roll-out of evidence-based practice bundles to reduce unnecessary variations in care." CP 309. The "practice bundles" were to "help standardize and improve care across the system." CP 311.³

The Court of Appeals downplayed the evidence CHI *in fact* influenced frontline care because CHI did not "mandate" its practice bundles App. at 5. CHI disseminated best practices but did not share equivalent information about SNS, despite knowing hospitals were not offering this lifesaving screening. Further, CHI had the power to mandate practice bundles. CHI

³ Practice bundles explained "all the steps, the evidence, the things you need to do to be able to effectively implement what we – what the research shows is a best practice." CP 310.

had sole power to amend the bylaws of its Washington hospital. CP 215. The bylaws adopted Catholic guidance mandating and forbidding certain medical procedures. CP 213. CHI directly managed its hospitals' compliance with accreditation standards. CP 427, 431. CHI had the power to direct healthcare activity.⁴ CHI made the internal decision not to mandate practice bundles, but only because it believed it would be more effective to use a recommendation approach. CP 310.

Division II also accepted CHI's argument that, despite knowing about SNS and having a life-threatening "variability" within the system, CP 542, CHI did not need a pediatrician on its Clinical Services Group because it "provided adult care." App. at 5. The record showed the labor and delivery service was a major portion of CHI's systemwide business. CP 314.

⁴ Division II ruled "there is no evidence that CHI could have mandated a particular course of testing or treatment." App. at 16. The record showed precisely that CHI had that power.

Fourth, Division II accepted CHI's argument—made entirely without record support—that "No other acute care hospitals licensed in Washington State offered the test at that time." App. at 4. The record is silent on the practices of other hospitals. Even so, at the time of KJM's birth, Washington's military hospitals provided SNS, CP 615, 675, as well as hospitals in California, Oregon, Idaho, Alaska, Hawai'i, and Guam, CP 615. The court remarked the state Department of Health had not mandated SNS, but the evidence showed the reason for this was a slow budget process. CP 745-46. The Department was trying to update Washington's mandate to include SNS, CP 724-87.

Division II's opinion understated CHI's knowledge of SNS and its influence on bedside care. It described KJM's

⁵ In 2002, the Department circulated information that SNS was available through private laboratories. CP 709, 745. SNS cost "as little as \$25," and private laboratories offered it specifically for states whose regulatory processes lagged. CP 674-75.

remedy as pursuing claims "against individual healthcare providers." App. at 14. But *CHI* was aware of a "[k]nowledge deficit" among "physicians & nursing, clinicians" regarding genetic testing. CP 376. KJM's claim, supported by leading experts, is that CHI's responsibility to KJM and to those providers was to disseminate and implement the lifesaving knowledge that it admittedly had.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This Court should review Division II's opinion under RAP 13.4(b)(4), because it conflicts with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, because it adopts a new, erroneous interpretation of chapter 7.70 RCW, and because relieving anyone involved in health care from being responsible to exercise reasonable care if they do not meet the statutory definition of "health care provider" is a question of substantial importance.

CHI is far from unique. Commentators have noted, "Healthcare in the United States is changing. Recent years have brought a significant increase in healthcare mergers, and provisions in the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act ('Affordable Care Act') encourage integration and coordination of healthcare services." Jacob Snow, Ronnie Solomon, Kyle Quackenbush, The Efficiencies Defenestration: Are Regulators Throwing Valid Healthcare Efficiencies Out the Window?, 27 Competition: J. Anti., UCL & Privacy Sec. Cal. L. Assoc. 73 (2018). CHI admitted that it was formed to meet the demands of modern medicine. This is not limited to CHI: "Over the past several years, faced with rising costs, pressures to improve quality, changes to insurance reimbursements, and other regulatory developments, the healthcare field has witnessed increasing consolidation." Lisl Dunlop, Certificates of Public Advantage: Bypassing the FTC in Healthcare Mergers?, 27 Competition: J. Anti., UCL & Privacy Sec. Cal. L. Assoc. 11 (2018). This Court should review Division II's holding that

chapter 7.70 RCW puts such entities beyond the reach of Washington tort law.

1. This Court looks to broad considerations of policy—not merely narrow statutory definitions—to determine whether a duty of care is owed.

Contrary to Division II's analysis, this Court has never used chapter 7.70 RCW in isolation to determine whether a duty of reasonable care is owed.

"To decide if the law imposes a duty of care, and to determine the duty's measure and scope, courts weigh considerations of logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent." *Affiliated FM Ins. Co. v. LTK Consulting Servs.*, *Inc.*, 170 Wn.2d 442, 449–50, 243 P.3d 521 (2010) (quotation omitted). Courts find a duty when "considerations of public policy . . . lead the law to conclude that a 'plaintiff's interests are entitled to legal protection against the defendant's conduct." *Id.* (quoting W. Page Keeton, et al., Prosser and Keeton on Torts § 53, at 357 (5th ed. 1984)).

a. Case law relies on the general tort standard to determine duty.

Even after the enactment of chapter 7.70 RCW, this Court has looked to this standard to determine the existence of a tort duty of reasonable care in cases involving health care. In Harbeson v. Parke-Davis, Inc., 98 Wn.2d 460, 464, 656 P.2d 483 (1983), providers failed to warn expecting parents about the risk of possible birth defects. The court began with chapter 7.70 RCW; but on duty, the court looked not to statutory criteria, but improvements in the medical field "to predict the occurrence and recurrence of defects attributable to genetic disorders." *Id.* at 472. *Harbeson* shows that, even after chapter 7.70 RCW, general tort law determines whether a duty is owed. The statutes guide whether there has been a "failure to conform to the appropriate standard of skill, care, or learning." *Id.* at 473 (citing RCW 4.24.290; RCW 7.70.040).

This Court engaged in a similar analysis in *Pedroza v*.

Bryant, 101 Wn.2d 226, 677 P.2d 166 (1984). The Court looked

to case law in which Washington had "recognized and adopted the fundamental principle of the theory, namely, that a hospital owes an independent duty of care to its patients directly." Id. at 232. *Pedroza* reviewed the nature of the modern hospital, finding a duty because "[t]he community hospital has evolved into a corporate institution, assuming 'the role of a comprehensive health center ultimately responsible for arranging and coordinating total health care." *Id.* at 231 (quotation omitted). Accord Volk v. DeMeerleer, 187 Wn.2d 241, 274, 386 P.3d 254 (2016) (finding a duty based on "fairly [balancing] the needs of protecting the public, allowing recovery for victims of psychiatric patients' crimes, and providing the necessary protection for mental health professionals to perform their jobs.").

In *Lam v. Glob. Med. Sys., Inc., P.S.*, 127 Wn. App. 657, 663, 111 P.3d 1258 (2005), survivors of a deceased seaman sued two physicians for giving negligent advice to the crew of the fishing boat on which he was employed. *Id.* at 660-61. On

duty, the court did not look to chapter 7.70 RCW but the physicians' contractual agreement to "render consultation and provide advice." *Id.* at 665. Cases from Texas, New York, and Ohio supported a duty of care. *Id.* at 664 n.17 & 18. Like *Harbeson*, *Pedroza*, and *Volk*, the *Lam* court found a duty without reference to chapter 7.70 RCW, because the physicians' "activity" was "amply sufficient to create a duty of care." *Id.* at 665 (emphasis added).⁶

Division II's opinion conflicts with *Harbeson*, *Pedroza*, *Volk*, *Lam*, *Judy*, and *Alexander*, because it failed to apply this Court's test for when a duty of care exists.

Pedroza is instructive, because it concerned care governed by chapter 7.70 RCW but sill focused on the role of

Likewise decisions th

⁶ Likewise, decisions that *declined* to find a duty also turned on considerations outside of chapter 7.70 RCW. See *Judy v*. *Hanford Envtl. Health Found.*, 106 Wn. App. 26, 38, 22 P.3d 810 (2001) (no duty by physician conducting pre-employment screening); *Alexander v. Gonser*, 42 Wn. App. 234, 239, 711 P.2d 347 (1985) (no duty by hospital to inform patient of physician-ordered test results).

the hospital in modern medicine. The role of the multi-state health system four decades later demands a similar analysis. Because multi-state health systems influence practice and have their own standards of care, review by this Court to clarify the intent of chapter 7.70 RCW is particularly relevant.

b. Chapter 7.70 RCW provides the exclusive claims for a "health care provider" providing "health care," but this exclusivity does not determine the existence of a duty by CHI.

Division II misinterpreted the significance of the exclusive scope of chapter 7.70 RCW for claims arising from health care.

Division II relied on the rule that "[W]henever an injury occurs as a result of health care, the action for damages for that injury is governed exclusively by RCW 7.70." *Fast v. Kennewick Pub. Hosp. Dist.*, 187 Wn.2d 27, 34, 384 P.3d 232 (2016) (quoting *Branom v. State*, 94 Wn. App. 964, 969, 974 P.2d 335 (1999)). The claims allowed under chapter 7.70 RCW make a "health care provider" liable. Putting these two concepts

RCW means that if an injury arises from "health care," then only a "health care provider" can be liable for the injury, and anyone who is not a "health care provider" cannot be liable.

But neither *Fast* nor *Branom* held this. In *Fast*, the issue was tolling for wrongful death claims. 187 Wn.2d at 29. In *Branom*, the issue was whether the informed-consent duty ran to a minor's parents in their own right. 94 Wn. App. at 966. The exclusivity of chapter 7.70 RCW meant that a "health care provider" providing "health care" could only be liable pursuant to that law. Neither court considered whether others, not defined as "health care providers," could owe a parallel duty for the same injury, or whether "health care providers" acting outside the capacity of providing "health care" could owe a parallel duty.

Before this case, Washington courts permitted parallel duties. In *Lam*, the court rejected the argument that the existence of the shipowner's duty negated the physicians' duty.

127 Wn. App. at 663. The physicians owed a duty governed by chapter 7.70 RCW, and the shipowner owed a parallel duty to provide seaworthy conditions. Here too, the mere fact frontline providers owed a duty to follow the standard of care is "irrelevant" to whether CHI owed a duty because of its standing relative to KJM. *Lam*, 127 Wn. App. at 663.

Likewise, defined "health care providers" are subject to general tort claims for activities occurring parallel to "health care." *Estate of Sly v. Linville*, 75 Wn. App. 431, 439, 878 P.2d 1241 (1994), held that torts outside of the provision of health care are not governed by chapter 7.70 RCW but are governed by general negligence principles. *Harris v. Extendicare Homes, Inc.*, 829 F.Supp.2d 1023, 1028–29 (W.D. Wash. 2011), allowed a negligence claim under against a nursing home outside of chapter 7.70 RCW for injury-causing conduct other than establishing care plans. *See also Conrad v. Alderwood Manor*, 119 Wn. App. 275, 78 P.3d 177 (2003) (same).

In *Lam*, *Estate of Sly*, *Harris*, and *Conrad*, the claimed injury occurred in the context of health care, but non-providers and providers acting in a capacity other than health care could be liable under general tort law. Division II's opinion forecloses this possibility by making chapter 7.70 RCW the sole arbiter of whether any duty can be owed in a health care setting. The opinion therefore conflicts with these decisions as well.

2. Chapter 7.70 RCW was never intended to preclude claims against persons who are not health care providers, and interpreting it do so is inconsistent with this Court's decisions on statutory interpretation.

The effect of Division II's opinion is that CHI cannot owe a duty to KJM *not* because of Court's case law on the existence of a tort duty, but simply because it was not a "health care provider" and under chapter 7.70 RCW only a "health care provider" can be liable. This reading transforms chapter 7.70 RCW into a broad grant of immunity that the Legislature neither intended nor could have foreseen. The purpose of the law was to limit claims against "health care providers" when

providing "health care" to solely the three claims allowed under the statute. The law was never concerned with, and never addressed, the liability of persons who do not fall into the definition of "health care provider." The result of Division II's opinion is that parties who are *not* providers are absolutely protected by chapter 7.70 RCW from owing a tort duty if the injury occurred in a health care setting. The Legislature never said anything about the liability of *non*-health care providers, yet, according to Division II, was far more protective of them than it was of "health care providers" themselves.

Division II arrived at this erroneous conclusion by failing to apply this Court's decisions on statutory interpretation. It cited, but failed to apply, the rule that courts do not consider a statute in isolation, but in the full context of "all that the Legislature has said in the statute and related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question." *State, Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 11, 43 P.3d 4 (2002).

The Legislature's enactments on health care liability show that the Legislature intended that all persons may be liable for violation of the standard of care applicable to their activity. KJM presented precisely this evidence as to CHI. CP 462, 616, 680. Equally important, the Legislature *never* stated, in chapter 7.70 RCW or elsewhere, that *anyone* is relieved of a tort duty by virtue of any statutory enactment.⁷

⁷ If the Legislature attempted to eliminate common law tort liability explicitly, as Division II has held it did by implication, such a law would be subject to constitutional requirements that Division II never evaluated. First, the constitution demands that "[w]hen the Legislature abolishes a cause of action, it does so explicitly." Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp., 112 Wn.2d 636, 665, 771 P.2d 711 (1989) (damages cap unconstitutional). Second, when the legislature creates an immunity from common law liability, this must have a "reasonable ground" under Washington's Privileges and Immunities clause. Schroeder v. Weighall, 179 Wn.2d 566, 571, 316 P.3d 482 (2014) (eliminating tolling of minor claims unconstitutional). Finally, legislation eliminating common law liability is more likely to be upheld when it creates a substitute remedy. State v. Clausen, 65 Wash. 156, 210, 117 P. 1101 (1911) (workers' compensation). This is only more evidence that Division II mistook the Legislature's intent.

The Legislature's enactments show intent to allow all parties to be held liable for standard of care violations. First, before chapter 7.70 RCW, in RCW 4.24.290, the Legislature established that in any action "based on professional negligence ... against *a member of the healing arts*," the plaintiff must show that "the defendant . . . failed to exercise that degree of skill, care, and learning possessed at that time by other persons in the same profession." RCW 4.24.290 (emphasis added). This statute contemplates that there may be persons involved in health care delivery beyond those defined as "health care providers" in chapter 7.70 RCW, and who owe a duty to follow the standard of care.⁸

⁸ The impetus for RCW 4.24.290 and later chapter 7.70 RCW was *Helling v. Carey*, 83 Wn.2d 514, 519 P.2d 981 (1974), which deemed a test to be the standard of care as a matter of law despite the fact the medical profession did not follow that standard. The legislation restored the standard of care as set by the medical community: *nothing* supports the proposition the Legislature intended to statutorily preclude claims against parties where there is evidence they did not follow the standard of care of the medical community, as there is here.

Second, chapter 7.70 RCW includes in the definition of "health care provider" non-medical personnel including "an officer, director, employee, or agent" of a health care entity.

RCW 7.70.020(3). This contemplates that non-medical personnel may influence health outcomes and therefore owe a tort duty of reasonable care.⁹

Third, chapter 7.70 RCW incorporates a limitation on the definition of "health care." RCW 7.70.040 incorporates the definition of "health care" of RCW 70.02.010, which limits the scope of "health care" to care that is provided by a "health care provider." *See* RCW 7.70.065(3) & 70.02.010(15). The effect of this limitation is that, by definition, any activity by a party who is *not a health care provider* is therefore *not health care*.

⁹ Implementing policies and procedures to assure quality care is an integral part of safe health care delivery. *E.g.* WPI 105.02.02 (hospital's duty to adopt policies and procedures).

¹⁰ Even before this statutory cross reference, this Court looked to RCW 70.02.010 to determine the scope of the term "health care." *Berger v. Sonneland*, 144 Wn.2d 91, 109, 26 P.3d 257 (2001).

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