FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/11/2021 10:20 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100195-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MATTHEW MENZER as Litigation Guardian ad Litem of KJM, a minor,

Petitioner,

v.

CATHOLIC HEALTH INITIATIVES, a foreign corporation; Respondent,

FRANCISCAN HEALTH SYSTEM, a Washington corporation; and SAINT JOSEPH MEDICAL CENTER,

Defendants.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Amanda K. Thorsvig, WSBA #45354 Scott M. O'Halloran, WSBA #25236 FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF ROSENDAHL O'HALLORAN SPILLANE, PLLC Attorneys for Respondent 1301 A Street, Suite 900 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 328-7800 amanda@favros.com scott@favros.com

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

No RAP 13.4(b) consideration warrants this Court's review. Although KJM, *Pet. at 8*, cites RAP 13.4(b)(4) (issue of substantial public interest), and RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) (conflict with decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals) because he believes Division II's decision erroneously interprets chapter 7.70 RCW, he is incorrect. Neither this Court nor any other

Washington appellate court has ever held that a non-health care provider parent corporation owed a duty to a patient at a hospital it did not own or operate in the form of requiring or implementing specific policies governing newborn screening. Division II correctly applied chapter 7.70 RCW's plain language to affirm dismissal of CHI, a non-health care provider corporation, from KJM's medical negligence lawsuit. KJM cites no decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals that conflicts with Division II's decision, nor has he articulated an issue of substantial public interest so as to warrant this Court's review.

A. <u>Division II's Decision Is Not in Conflict with Any</u> <u>Decision of This Court or of the Court of Appeals</u>.

1. Division II's decision follows chapter 7.70 RCW.

Division II correctly recognized that, because KJM's action is for damages for injuries occurring as a result of health care, chapter 7.70 RCW creates the source for any duty. That statute exclusively governs "*all* civil actions for damages for injury occurring as a result of health care, regardless of how the

action is characterized." *Branom v. State*, 94 Wn. App. 964, 969, 974 P.2d 335 (1999) (emphasis original), *rev. denied*, 138 Wn.2d 1023 (1999); *see also Reagan v. Newton*, 7 Wn. App. 2d 781, 790, 436 P.3d 411, *rev. denied*, 193 Wn.2d 1030 (2019) (citing *Fast v. Kennewick Pub. Hosp. Dist.*, 187 Wn.2d 27, 34, 384 P.3d 232 (2016) ("[W]henever an injury occurs as a result of health care, the action for damages for that injury is governed exclusively by RCW 7.70")).⁶ "This section sweeps broadly." *Branom*, 94 Wn. App. at 969; *see also* RCW 7.70.010.

⁶ An exclusive statutory remedy for a specific type of claim is not unique to chapter 7.70 RCW. The appellant in *Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 322-23, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993), made an argument similar to KJM's but concerning Washington's Product Liability Act. The plaintiff doctor attempted to recover for his emotional injuries after an unsafe medication harmed his patients, but the PLA did not allow those damages. *Id.* at 318-22. This Court, concluding that the PLA "preempts traditional common law remedies for product-related harms," did not allow the plaintiff to bring a common law negligence claim, even though that meant he could not recover for his claimed emotional injuries. *Id.* at 322-23.

"[T]he specific question of whether the injury is actionable

is governed by RCW 7.70.030." Branom, 94 Wn. App. at 969.

A plaintiff may recover only by proving either:

(1) That injury resulted from the failure of a health care provider to follow the accepted standard of care;

(2) That a health care provider promised the patient or his or her representative that the injury suffered would not occur; [or]

(3) That injury resulted from health care to which the patient or his or her representative did not consent.

RCW 7.70.030. All three propositions are predicated on an act

or omission of a health care provider. See RCW 7.70.030,

7.70.040, 7.70.050.

As KJM's action is one for damages for injury occurring as a result of health care, whether CHI owed KJM a duty turns on whether CHI comes within the statutory definition of a "health care provider." It does not. The legislature unambiguously defined "health care provider" as:

(1) A person licensed by this state to provide health care or related services ...;

(2) An employee or agent of a person described in part (1) above, acting in the course and scope of his [or her] employment ...; or

(3) An entity, whether or not incorporated, facility, or institution employing one or more persons described in part (1) above, including, but not limited to, a hospital, clinic, health maintenance organization, or nursing home; or an officer, director, employee, or agent thereof

RCW 7.70.020. KJM essentially concedes, *see Pet. at 17-21*, that CHI does not satisfy these definitions. In a straightforward interpretation, consistent with the statute's unambiguous language, Division II correctly applied chapter 7.70 RCW to affirm dismissal of CHI.

KJM claims, *Pet. at 20-21*, that Division II should have adopted an expanded definition of "health care provider" that no court in this state has recognized to include "all persons engaged in the healing arts." This Court should, as Division II did, decline KJM's invitation to rewrite the statutory definition. *See Cerrillo v. Esparza*, 158 Wn.2d 194, 201, 142 P.3d 155 (2006) ("Courts may not read into a statute matters that are not in it and may not create legislation under the guise of interpreting a statute.").

2. Division II's decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals.

Unsurprisingly given the statute's plain language, no decisions of this Court or of the Court of Appeals that KJM cites actually conflict with Division II's decision.

KJM asserts, *Pet. at 10*, that even in the setting of a health care liability lawsuit such as his own, "this Court has never used chapter 7.70 RCW in isolation to determine whether a duty of reasonable care is owed." Although Washington courts may have done so in the context of articulating specific duties owed by *health care providers*, none has done so in the setting of a non-health care provider corporation like CHI. Each case that KJM cites involved a health care provider defendant that, unlike CHI here, fit exactly within RCW 7.70.020's statutory definition.

In *Harbeson v. Parke-Davis, Inc.*, 98 Wn.2d 460, 656 P.2d 483 (1983), the issue was whether *physicians* had a duty to protect parents' right to prevent the birth of children with defects. In *Volk v. DeMeerler*, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016), the issue was whether a *psychiatrist* had a duty to protect reasonably foreseeable victims of his patient's violence. In *Khung Thi Lam* v. Global Med. Sys., 127 Wn. App. 657, 111 P.3d 1258 (2005), the issue was whether *physicians* who provided telephone medical advice pursuant to a contract owed a duty to patients on board a ship. In Judy v. Hanford Envtl. Health Found., 106 Wn. App. 26, 22 P.3d 810 (2001), the issue was whether a physician in a physical capacity to work evaluation owed a duty to the employee. The courts in all of these cases that KJM cites as "conflicting" do not conflict at all: they assessed whether a health care provider owed a specific duty under a specific claim for damages for injury occurring as a result of health care, not whether a non-health care provider entity owed a duty at all under a chapter 7.70 RCW claim for damages for injury occurring as a result of health care.

Similarly, *Pedroza v. Bryant*, 101 Wn.2d 226, 677 P.2d 166 (1984), and *Alexander v. Gonser*, 42 Wn. App. 234, 711 P.2d 347 (1985), addressed duties of a hospital, that again, unlike CHI,

is a "health care provider" under RCW 7.70.020. While St. Joseph, as a hospital, has a set number of duties, CHI is not a hospital and sees no patients. Because it is not a hospital and did not own or operate St. Joseph, CHI had no role in any of the duties that Washington courts recognize as the basis for corporate liability: maintaining grounds, providing equipment, staff. granting employing licensed practice privileges, supervising employees, or reviewing the quality of care provided at St. Joseph. Douglas v. Freeman, 117 Wn.2d 242, 248, 814 P.2d 1160 (1991); CP 97-99. FHS alone fulfilled those duties. *Id.*, 101-03.

Even if CHI were a "health care provider," which it is not, *Douglas* establishes four duties that a hospital owes directly to patients, and does not include duties to require specific screening tests, adopt certain clinical policies, or disseminate medical information. *See* 117 Wn.2d at 248 (duties "(1) to use reasonable care in the maintenance of buildings and grounds for the protection of the [institution's] invitees; (2) to furnish the patient supplies and equipment free of defects; (3) to select its employees with reasonable care; and (4) to supervise all persons who practice medicine within its walls"); *Alexander v. Gonser*, 42 Wn. App. 234, 235, 711 P.2d 347 (1985) (affirming dismissal of hospital because hospital had no "independent duty to inform a patient of test results administered at the request of the treating physician"). Division II's decision, which declined to impose a duty on a non-hospital corporation to require SNS or disseminate information about it, is not in conflict with corporate negligence jurisprudence.

KJM, *Pet. at 16-17*, also cites cases for the proposition that chapter 7.70 RCW does not preclude general negligence claims, even against doctors or hospitals. That is true only if the claim does not seek damages for injuries resulting from health care. In *Estate of Sly v. Linville*, 75 Wn. App. 431, 433-34, 878 P.2d 1241 (1994), the plaintiff brought a negligent misrepresentation claim against his surgeon for informing him that another surgeon's care was adequate when, in fact, the surgeon believed the other surgeon's techniques were lacking. As a result, the patient failed to timely sue the first surgeon. *Id.* at 434. In concluding that the medical malpractice statute of limitations did not apply to bar the plaintiff's suit against the second surgeon, the Court reasoned that the claim did not result from health care—even though the defendant and plaintiff had a physician-patient relationship—because the claim arose from discussions about the other surgeon rather than the provision of health care. *Id.* at 437-40.

Likewise, *Harris v. Extendicare Homes, Inc.*, 829 F. Supp. 2d 1023 (W.D. Wash. 2011), and *Conrad v. Alderwood Manor*, 119 Wn. App. 275 (2003), allowed general negligence claims arising from non-medical activities such as providing food and water, whereas chapter 7.70 RCW governed claims resulting from health care, such as deficiencies in physician-approved care plans.

These consistent decisions confirm that Division II was correct. While plaintiffs can pursue general negligence claims against health care providers arising from non-medical activities, any claims for damages for injuries resulting from health care must be brought under chapter 7.70 RCW. The nature of the action as arising from health care, rather than the status of the defendant as a health care provider, determines whether chapter 7.70 RCW applies. KJM does not dispute that his claims are for damages for injuries allegedly resulting from health care, *i.e.*, what metabolic and genetic screening newborns should undergo. Chapter 7.70 RCW thus governed exclusively.

3. Division II's decision is consistent with other Court of Appeals' decisions.

Two Court of Appeals' decisions in particular illustrate Division II's consistency with Washington authority. In one sentence, KJM attempts to distinguish *Branom, Pet. at 15,* and he ignores *Coolen v. Group Health,* 2020 Wash. App. LEXIS 2331, *rev. denied,* 196 Wn.2d 1039 (2021).⁷

First, in *Branom*, 94 Wn. App. at 970-71, the Court of Appeals concluded that the plaintiff parents' claims were for

⁷ Unpublished opinion per GR 14.1.

damages for injuries resulting from health care such that chapter 7.70 RCW governed, although they had no provider-patient relationship with any health care provider. The parents asserted emotional distress injuries due to the failure of their infant's physician to inform them of the child's medical condition. See *id.* The parents contended that their injury did not result from "health care" because their infant's physician did not treat them. Id. at 970. The Court of Appeals disagreed, finding that the "situation falls squarely within the statutory framework of RCW 7.70," because the physician, although not providing care to the parents, was still "examining, diagnosing, treating or caring for" the infant, and it was from these actions that the parents' own claims arose. Id. at 970-71.

Second, in *Coolen*, 2020 Wash. App. LEXIS 2331, *2, the Court of Appeals held that even a hospital "did not have a duty to adopt specific policies and procedures for particular methods of screening illnesses." The *Coolen* plaintiff's husband died from prostate cancer that she alleged would have been diagnosed sooner had Group Health adopted policies standardizing prostate cancer screening. *Id.* at *1-2, 9, 12. Group Health did not have a policy on uniform prostate cancer screening because it allowed providers to engage in decision-making with patients about screening on an individual basis. *Id.* at *8. In affirming the trial court's decision not to instruct the jury on corporate negligence, the Court of Appeals reasoned that *Douglas* "did not include under corporate negligence a duty to adopt particular policies and procedures governing patient care." *Id.* at *12.

Coolen applies most forcibly here. CHI, which is not a hospital, had no duty to require its subsidiary-owned hospitals to adopt policies mandating routine newborn screening for genetic disorders. Attempting to distinguish *Coolen* through semantics, KJM asserts, *Pet. at 3*, that Division II misinterpreted KJM's claims as a duty to "require" its subsidiaries' hospitals to provide SNS, when all CHI needed to do was "offer" SNS. CP 615. It is difficult to conceive how CHI had a duty to offer SNS to all newborns, but not a duty to require its subsidiaries to perform

SNS on all newborns. They are two sides of the same coin. Without requiring its subsidiaries' hospitals to perform SNS, CHI cannot "offer" SNS to all newborns.

B. <u>KJM's Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of</u> <u>Substantial Public Interest.</u>

KJM suggests, *Pet. at 17-19*, that, by declining review, this Court will allow CHI to "immunize" itself.⁸ His premise is incorrect for multiple reasons.

First, this Court has established that using the corporate form to limit liability is a legitimate purpose of a corporation that is not misconduct or some illegal loophole to "immunize" itself. *See Meisel v. M & N Modern Hydraulic Press Co.*, 97 Wn.2d 403, 410-11, 645 P.2d 689 (1982). CHI and FHS are separate corporate entities. By definition, that does not expose CHI to liability for torts attributed to FHS. *Minton v. Ralston Purina Co.*, 146 Wn.2d 385, 397-99, 47 P.3d 556 (2002) ("It is a general

⁸ KJM incorrectly contends that Division II erred in not considering common law duty. CHI extensively briefed why Division II should not create a duty, and Division II agreed.

principle of corporate law deeply ingrained in our economic and legal systems that a parent corporation [] is not liable for the acts of its subsidiaries"). If KJM had evidence suggesting that CHI misused its corporate form to violate or evade a duty, he could attempt to pierce the corporate veil. *See Truckweld Equip. Co. v. Olson*, 26 Wn. App. 638, 643-44, 618 P.2d 1017 (1980). KJM offered no such evidence, nor has he challenged the legitimate reasons CHI has for maintaining a separate corporate identity.

Division II also recognized that the corporate practice of medicine doctrine, precedent for 80 years, militates against imposing a duty on a corporation that does not even own or operate hospitals to dictate what screening its subsidiaries' hospitals must provide. This Court has recognized that "[a]t bottom, the doctrine exists to protect the relationship between the professional and the client," cognizant of the potential danger that "the commercialization of professions would destroy professional standards and that the duties of professionals to their clients are incompatible with the commercial interests of business entities." *See, e.g., Columbia Physical Therapy, Inc. v. Benton Franklin Orthopedic Assocs., PLLC*, 168 Wn.2d 421, 430-31, 228 P.3d 1260 (2010). CHI has never intended to, nor has it, encroached on the medical judgment of medical providers or hospitals across the country. Maintaining the medical autonomy of its subsidiaries' hospitals, CHI's structure allowed medical decisions to remain in providers' hands. Public policy disfavors penalizing CHI for doing so.

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